
Page 1 of 8 

KENDALL COUNTY PLANNING, BUILDING & ZONING COMMITTEE 
Kendall County Historic Court House 

Court Room 
110 W. Madison Street, Yorkville, Illinois 

6:30 p.m. 
Meeting Minutes of May 21, 2025 

CALL TO ORDER 
The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wormley at 6:31 p.m. 

ROLL CALL 
Committee Members Present: Brian DeBolt, Elizabeth Flowers, Dan Koukol, Ruben   
Rodriguez, and Seth Wormley  
Committee Members Absent: None 
Also Present: Wanda A. Rolf, Office Assistant, Nick Standiford, Tom Ryan, and Nick  
Bellone 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA   
Member DeBolt made a motion, seconded by Member Koukol, to approve the agenda as 
presented.  With a voice vote of five (5) ayes, the motion carried. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Member Flowers made a motion, seconded by Member DeBolt, to approve the minutes 
of the April 7, 2025, meeting.  With a voice vote of five (5) ayes, the motion carried.  

PUBLIC COMMENT 
None 

Expenditure Report 
Review of Expenditures from April 2025 
The Committee reviewed the Expenditure Report. 

PETITIONS    
Petition 24-30 Nicholas S. Bellone on Behalf of Ament Solar 1, LLC (Tenant) and Janet 
M. Dhuse on Behalf of the Janet Dhuse Declaration of Family Trust Dated March 1, 2013
(Owner)  
Chairman Wormley spoke about a community benefit agreement Between Solar 1, LLC 
and the County of Kendall, Illinois.   

Nick Standiford, Attorney for the Petitioner, spoke about the Solar Farm and how it al-
lows for commercial development and is setback from the right of way.  Mr. Standiford 
stated that they worked with Kendall County to develop a community benefit agreement.  
The agreement requires payment to the County of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000) 
per year in addition to the yearly taxes for the County to use as the County sees fit.   

Mr. Standiford stated they are here to request a recommendation for a Special Use Per-



Page 2 of 8 
 

mit.  There is no annexation agreement with the city of Yorkville and the property is with-
in one and a half miles (1.5) of the City of Yorkville.  
 
Member Koukol asked Mr. Ryan if he could provide a background of the company.  Tom 
Ryan, Senior Project Manager provided a brief background of the company.  He stated 
that Solar 1, LLC was previously known as Borrego Solar and has been around since the 
1980’s.  It was one (1) of the first solar companies to come to Illinois to execute solar 
projects.   

 
Tom Ryan, Senior Project Manager stated that there are two (2) parcels being used.  
Only forty (40) acres will be used for the solar project site.  It is a five (5) megawatt pro-
ject, single axis tracker.  Mr. Ryan stated that notifications were sent out to all surround-
ing property owners as well as Kendall Township and the United City of Yorkville.  They 
also conducted door to door outreach.  There were no objections to the project.    There 
is land that can be used for commercial development.  Mr. Ryan stated they are using 
very efficient trackers and getting a high yield of sunlight.  The racking system is piled 
into the ground.  There will be no concrete.  There will be a seven foot (7’) fence around 
the project.  All the cables will be underground.  There will be native grasses and wild-
flowers; this reduces soil erosion and increases organic matter.  This situation creates a 
habitat for bees and butterflies to forage and increases pollination for nearby crops. 
 
Mr. Ryan stated that, once the permit is issued, they will acquire a drain tile survey.  Any 
drain tiles that are broken or damaged during the process or the lifespan of the project, 
will be repaired or replaced.   Another great thing with the drainage system is the pollina-
tors.   The pollinators have a deep root system which will help with preventing erosion.  
There are some additions from the stormwater study, Kendall Township requested the 
addition of detention basins on the south end in case any flooding occurs. 
   
Mr. Ryan spoke about the road use agreement, including road weight limits and time of 
year road use restrictions and culvert installations and maintenance during the project.  
Pre- and post-road survey will be conducted by a third (3rd) party engineer.   There will 
be heavy trucks during the construction phase.  Mr. Ryan also stated that, at the time of 
decommissioning, if the company no longer exists, there is a bond in place that would 
cover the costs of decommissioning the solar farm to bring the site back to its original 
farmland.      
 
Mr. Ryan stated that the estimated tax revenue over twenty-five (25) years would be Six 
Hundred Five Thousand, Two Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($605,225).  So-
lar 1, LLC would be able to extend the timeline four (4) times for five (5) years each time 
for a total maximum of forty (40) years.   
 
Mr. Ryan went over the community benefit agreement.  Payment to the County of Fifteen 
Thousand Dollars ($15,000) per year in addition to the yearly taxes for the County to use 
as they see fit.   
 
Member DeBolt asked how much revenue does this generate for Solar 1, LLC.  Mr. Ryan 



Page 3 of 8 
 

stated he did not know how much it generates for Solar 1, LLC.   
 
Member DeBolt asked if Solar 1, LLC would like to continue to have solar on the same 
land more than forty (40) years.  Mr. Ryan stated that they would not request a longer 
time than forty (40) years.  If he did, he would have to provide a new contract.   
 
Member DeBolt asked who was the bond company that they were using.  Mr. Ryan  
stated he did not know, but would find out and let Member DeBolt know.  Member DeBolt 
wanted to make sure the bond company had been around for an extensive period of 
time.  Mr. Ryan stated he believes they use Hartford, but would confirm.   
 
Member DeBolt asked why the solar company doesn’t use the entire ninety-six (96) 
acres.  Mr. Ryan stated that forty (40) acres is the maximum for the solar project and the 
rest will be farmed.   
 
Member DeBolt asked if the County would receive the community benefit agreement 
payments yearly or monthly.  Mr. Ryan stated it would be annually. 
 
Member Koukol asked if the steel posts they use have a coating, and if they rust.  Mr. 
Ryan answered the steel posts they use do not rust.  Member Koukol asked how often 
there is maintenance done on the property.  Mr. Ryan stated maintenance is performed 
three to four (3-4) times per year.  Mr. Standiford stated that Solar 1, LLC would receive 
a message if there was a problem with the panels. 
 
Member Flowers asked about the renewals of the lease.  Mr. Ryan stated it would be 
done every five (5) years with a maximum of four (4) times.   
 
Chairman Wormley asked, if this project is approved, when would they start construction.  
Mr. Ryan stated that would start construction in the spring of next year.   
 
Member Rodriguez mentioned, if there was a natural disaster, how would it be handled.  
Mr. Ryan stated that they would try to fix the damage or decommission the project.  The 
monitoring would let them know what the damage was.  Member Rodriguez asked if he 
has decommissioned any projects.  Mr. Ryan stated he has not decommissioned any 
projects yet.  Member Rodriguez asked how the decommissioning works.  Mr. Ryan 
stated that they remove everything that was initially placed on the solar field.  The land 
would be returned to its natural state.  Member Rodriguez asked what would cause Solar 
1, LLC not to extend their lease.  Mr. Ryan stated that as technology advances, they may 
not need the number of acres of land they currently have. 
 
Member Flowers asked if there is a possibility of the project going less than twenty-five 
(25) years.  Mr. Ryan stated no, and that Solar 1, LLC put down a lot of time and money 
into the project and twenty-five (25) years makes the project feasible.  
 
Member Koukol asked if there will be foliage on the property.  Mr. Ryan answered there 
will be native grasses and wildflowers planted as a buffer.  The foliage will be four to six 



Page 4 of 8 
 

foot (4’-6’) tall.  The access road does not have a buffer, but they will install one (1).     
 
Member DeBolt asked if the Committee will receive a copy of the bond contract and the 
decommissioning bond contract to review before it goes to the States Attorney’s Office.  
Mr. Ryan answered yes, the construction bond and the decommissioning bond will be 
provided to the to the County to review prior to signing.   
 
Member DeBolt wanted to make sure that if this project moves forward the company can 
assure the County that if something happens to Solar 1, LLC, they will be able to de-
commission the project when the time comes due.  
 
Chairman Wormley stated that he would like to table the petition until the next PBZ meet-
ing.  Stating the County needs time to review the bonds.   
 
Mr Standiford said that not all solar projects are the same.  This project does not have 
any neighbors objecting.   The nearby business owners did not object to the project.    
Solar does not use water or septic.  There is a signed road use agreement.  Commercial 
business can be built nearby.  The landowner will receive rent for the use of her land.   
 
Chairman Wormley asked Mr. Standiford if he could speak about the likelihood of seeing 
more solar farms in the future.  Mr. Standiford stated the solar farms have to be near 
power lines and a substation.  If the substation is already full there has to be upgrades 
made and is very expensive.  Some locations will be maxed out in Illinois.  The          
substations are getting full. 
 
Member Flowers asked what would happen if the decommission occurs and there is 
road damage after it is completed.  Mr. Standiford stated that there be a new road 
agreement.   
 
Chairman Wormley would like to pause the petition and add a condition to the special 
use permit incorporating the community benefit agreement and give it to the State’s    
Attorney before it goes to the County Board.   
 
Member Koukol was concerned that, if the company goes under, they will not be able to 
fulfill their agreement.   Member Koukol asked if a one percent (1%) increase in tax an-
nually would work and if they can look at five (5%) percent increase every five (5) years 
and prepare a new contract.   
 
Mr. Standiford stated that Solar 1, LLC would be willing to have five (5%) percent in-
crease every five (5) years.  Mr. Standiford also stated that the decommissioning amount 
is looked at every five (5) years. 
 
Chairman Wormley stated that the State’s Attorney would like to review the contract and 
will make modifications if needed.   
 



Page 5 of 8 
 

Member DeBolt made a motion, seconded by Member Koukol, to approve the          
community benefit agreement, and to have five (5%) percent tax increase for inflation 
every five (5) years. 

The votes were as follows: 

Yeas (5): Koukol, Flowers, Rodriguez, Wormley, and DeBolt 
Nays (0): None 
Abstain (0): None 
Absent (0): None 
 
The motion carried. 

The proposal will go to the next County Board meeting on the regular agenda, pending 
review by the State’s Attorney. 

Member Flowers made a motion, seconded by Member Rodriguez, to forward this       
Petition to the County Board with the addition of the special use condition by adding the 
community benefit agreement, and allowing the State’s Attorney time to review it.   

The votes were as follows: 

Yeas (5): Flowers, Koukol, Rodriguez, Wormley, and DeBolt 
Nays (0): None 
Abstain (0): None 
Absent (0): None 
 
The motion carried. 

The proposal will go to the next County Board meeting on the regular agenda, pending 
review by the State’s Attorney. 

NEW BUSINESS: 
Approval of a Community Benefit Agreement Between Ament Solar 1, LLC and the 
County of Kendall, Illinois 
See Information Under Petitions 
 
Introduction of Code Enforcement Officer Larry Simmons and Update on Planning, Build-
ing and Zoning Department Staffing 
Mr. Simmons spoke briefly about his background and how much he enjoys working for 
the County. 
 
May 31, 2025, Meet the Code Official Event   
This is community event at Kendall Township from 8:00 a.m. – 10:00 a.m.  The purpose 
of the event is to inform the public about building codes.  The event will also provide 
code enforcement education and advice on better ways to do certain tasks. 
 



Page 6 of 8 
 

Discussion of Adopting a Property Maintenance Code  
Brian Holdiman spoke on dealing with issues that have not been addressed in individual 
adopted ordinances that have been codified into the Kendall County Code and the      
International Residential Code and the International Building Code.  He stated they are 
looking into a property maintenance code which is more specific on code violations.  Mr. 
Holdiman stated that they received notification from the State’s Attorney that they can 
update the code.  Mr. Holdiman will perform presentations and offer suggestions on how 
the code will be enforced.   

 
Mr. Holdiman stated that, after January 1, 2026, the Department will be looking at       
updating their Code.  At the moment, the County is on the 2018 version of the             
International Code Books.  Mr. Holdiman stated he would like to stay current with other 
municipalities. 

 
Mr. Wormley asked for feedback from the commission.  Member DeBolt asked how 
many people he has working on a daily basis.  Mr. Holdiman stated that currently it is 
Larry Simmons and himself.  Previously it was just Mr. Holdiman.   

 
Member DeBolt asked how Mr. Holdiman receives the complaint information.  Mr. 
Holdiman stated he receives the complaints via phone call or in person.  He does not  
patrol the County.  There is a new complaints dashboard in which a person can send an 
email through the website and the person can provide the necessary information.  The 
code officials can perform an investigation and issue a violation. 

 
Member Rodriguez asked if there are enough resources to handle the number of     
complaints that come into the portal.  Mr. Holdiman stated he feels the County has 
enough resources and the Department will be more efficient.  Member Rodriguez asked 
where he would be able to find the QR code to the complaint portal.  Mr. Holdiman     
provided the information to Member Rodriguez.  

 
Member Koukol asked about the International Property Maintenance Code and if the 
Committee will vote on it and how it will work.  Mr. Holdiman stated he just received    
notification from the State’s Attorney’s Office to move forward with using the International 
Property Maintenance Code.  Mr. Holdiman stated that he will provide a presentation on 
how it works at a later date. 

 
Member Flowers asked if they use cameras or drones.  Mr. Holdiman stated that they do 
not use drones.  They use their camera phones quite extensively.  Neighbors also     
provide information.  On the website people can upload photos with their complaints. 

 
Member Koukol expressed some concern about the International Property Maintenance 
Code and how it will be used.  Mr. Holdiman stated that they can take the code book and 
go through it page by page and amend any section they would like.  They don’t have to 
use the entire book; they can use part of it.  There will also be more legal review.  Mr. 
Holdiman stated this is something they would like to use in the beginning of 2026.     



Page 7 of 8 
 

Chairman Wormley asked if the Committee would like to start working on the short-term 
rentals.  Currently it’s not regulated in the unincorporated parts.  Member DeBolt stated 
he would like to see more distance between the short-term rentals and other homes.  
Chairman Wormley stated that he would like to limit the amount of people allowed in 
these short-term rentals.  Mr. Holdiman stated the permit for short-term rentals has to be 
renewed annually.  Member Rodriguez asked what the other municipalities and the City 
of Chicago are doing to keep it under control.   

 
Update on the Comprehensive Plan Update Project 
Chairman Wormley gave an update on the project.  Teska is having community meetings 
to obtain feedback from the public.  This will give the residents a chance to provide input.  
 
OLD BUSINESS:  
Approval of a Request to Extend the Deadline to Install Landscaping at the Property Be-
tween 3900 and 3716 Stewart Road (PIN;  09-09-100-002 in Seward Township.  
Chairman Wormley stated that the deadline is on June 1, 2025.  He would like to extend 
the deadline to December 1, 2025 

 
Member Koukol made a motion, seconded by Member DeBolt, to approve extending the  
deadline to December 1, 2025. 

The votes were as follows: 

Yeas (5): Koukol, Flowers, Rodriguez, Wormley, and DeBolt 
Nays (0): None 
Abstain (0): None 
Absent (0): None 
 
The motion carried. 

Update on Stormwater Permit at 13039 McKanna Road (PIN:  09-09-100-002) in Seward 
Township 

Chairman Wormley stated there are no updates at this time.    

Updates on Amendments to the County-Wide Stormwater Management Ordinance Divi-
sion of the Kendall County Code 
Chairman Wormley read the email from FEMA.  We continue to work with FEMA on the 
review of the County’s submitted ordinance.    

REVIEW PRE-VIOLATION AND VIOLATION REPORT:  
The Committee reviewed the report.   
 
UPDATE FROM HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION:  
Member Flowers spoke about the summer meeting scheduled for July 21, 2025, with 
several great speakers.  Also, the Historic Preservation Commission is currently looking 
for locations to meet.   



Page 8 of 8 
 

REVIEW REVENUE REPORT:  
The Committee reviewed the report. 
 
CORRESPONDENCE 
None 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PRESS: 
None 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
None 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
Member Rodriguez made a motion, seconded by Member Koukol, to adjourn.  With a 
voice vote of five (5) ayes, the motion carried.       
 
Chairman Wormley adjourned the meeting at 8:04 p.m. 

Minutes prepared by Wanda A. Rolf, Part-Time Office Assistant 

Enc. 


















































	PBZ Committee Minutes 5-21-25 Unapproved
	Nick Standiford, Attorney for the Petitioner, spoke about the Solar Farm and how it allows for commercial development and is setback from the right of way.  Mr. Standiford stated that they worked with Kendall County to develop a community benefit agre...
	Mr. Standiford stated they are here to request a recommendation for a Special Use Permit.  There is no annexation agreement with the city of Yorkville and the property is within one and a half miles (1.5) of the City of Yorkville.
	Member Koukol asked Mr. Ryan if he could provide a background of the company.  Tom Ryan, Senior Project Manager provided a brief background of the company.  He stated that Solar 1, LLC was previously known as Borrego Solar and has been around since th...
	Tom Ryan, Senior Project Manager stated that there are two (2) parcels being used.  Only forty (40) acres will be used for the solar project site.  It is a five (5) megawatt project, single axis tracker.  Mr. Ryan stated that notifications were sent o...
	Mr. Ryan stated that, once the permit is issued, they will acquire a drain tile survey.  Any drain tiles that are broken or damaged during the process or the lifespan of the project, will be repaired or replaced.   Another great thing with the drainag...
	Mr. Ryan spoke about the road use agreement, including road weight limits and time of year road use restrictions and culvert installations and maintenance during the project.  Pre- and post-road survey will be conducted by a third (3rd) party engineer...
	Mr. Ryan stated that the estimated tax revenue over twenty-five (25) years would be Six Hundred Five Thousand, Two Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($605,225).  Solar 1, LLC would be able to extend the timeline four (4) times for five (5) years ea...
	Mr. Ryan went over the community benefit agreement.  Payment to the County of Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000) per year in addition to the yearly taxes for the County to use as they see fit.
	Member DeBolt asked how much revenue does this generate for Solar 1, LLC.  Mr. Ryan stated he did not know how much it generates for Solar 1, LLC.
	Member DeBolt asked if Solar 1, LLC would like to continue to have solar on the same land more than forty (40) years.  Mr. Ryan stated that they would not request a longer time than forty (40) years.  If he did, he would have to provide a new contract.
	Member DeBolt asked who was the bond company that they were using.  Mr. Ryan  stated he did not know, but would find out and let Member DeBolt know.  Member DeBolt wanted to make sure the bond company had been around for an extensive period of time.  ...
	Member DeBolt asked why the solar company doesn’t use the entire ninety-six (96) acres.  Mr. Ryan stated that forty (40) acres is the maximum for the solar project and the rest will be farmed.
	Member DeBolt asked if the County would receive the community benefit agreement payments yearly or monthly.  Mr. Ryan stated it would be annually.
	Member Koukol asked if the steel posts they use have a coating, and if they rust.  Mr. Ryan answered the steel posts they use do not rust.  Member Koukol asked how often there is maintenance done on the property.  Mr. Ryan stated maintenance is perfor...
	Member Flowers asked about the renewals of the lease.  Mr. Ryan stated it would be done every five (5) years with a maximum of four (4) times.
	Chairman Wormley asked, if this project is approved, when would they start construction.  Mr. Ryan stated that would start construction in the spring of next year.
	Member Rodriguez mentioned, if there was a natural disaster, how would it be handled.  Mr. Ryan stated that they would try to fix the damage or decommission the project.  The monitoring would let them know what the damage was.  Member Rodriguez asked ...
	Member Flowers asked if there is a possibility of the project going less than twenty-five (25) years.  Mr. Ryan stated no, and that Solar 1, LLC put down a lot of time and money into the project and twenty-five (25) years makes the project feasible.
	Member Koukol asked if there will be foliage on the property.  Mr. Ryan answered there will be native grasses and wildflowers planted as a buffer.  The foliage will be four to six foot (4’-6’) tall.  The access road does not have a buffer, but they wi...
	Member DeBolt asked if the Committee will receive a copy of the bond contract and the decommissioning bond contract to review before it goes to the States Attorney’s Office.  Mr. Ryan answered yes, the construction bond and the decommissioning bond wi...
	Member DeBolt wanted to make sure that if this project moves forward the company can assure the County that if something happens to Solar 1, LLC, they will be able to decommission the project when the time comes due.
	Chairman Wormley stated that he would like to table the petition until the next PBZ meeting.  Stating the County needs time to review the bonds.
	Mr Standiford said that not all solar projects are the same.  This project does not have any neighbors objecting.   The nearby business owners did not object to the project.    Solar does not use water or septic.  There is a signed road use agreement....
	Chairman Wormley asked Mr. Standiford if he could speak about the likelihood of seeing more solar farms in the future.  Mr. Standiford stated the solar farms have to be near power lines and a substation.  If the substation is already full there has to...
	Member Flowers asked what would happen if the decommission occurs and there is road damage after it is completed.  Mr. Standiford stated that there be a new road agreement.
	Chairman Wormley would like to pause the petition and add a condition to the special use permit incorporating the community benefit agreement and give it to the State’s    Attorney before it goes to the County Board.
	Member Koukol was concerned that, if the company goes under, they will not be able to fulfill their agreement.   Member Koukol asked if a one percent (1%) increase in tax annually would work and if they can look at five (5%) percent increase every fiv...
	Mr. Standiford stated that Solar 1, LLC would be willing to have five (5%) percent increase every five (5) years.  Mr. Standiford also stated that the decommissioning amount is looked at every five (5) years.
	Chairman Wormley stated that the State’s Attorney would like to review the contract and will make modifications if needed.
	Approval of a Request to Extend the Deadline to Install Landscaping at the Property Between 3900 and 3716 Stewart Road (PIN;  09-09-100-002 in Seward Township.
	Chairman Wormley stated that the deadline is on June 1, 2025.  He would like to extend the deadline to December 1, 2025
	Updates on Amendments to the County-Wide Stormwater Management Ordinance Division of the Kendall County Code
	UPDATE FROM HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION:
	Member Flowers spoke about the summer meeting scheduled for July 21, 2025, with several great speakers.  Also, the Historic Preservation Commission is currently looking for locations to meet.
	REVIEW REVENUE REPORT:
	The Committee reviewed the report.
	CORRESPONDENCE
	None
	COMMENTS FROM THE PRESS:
	None

	5-21-25 Attachment

